IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

---

DENZEL DORSEY,	)	Electronically Filed
#5899606,	)	Jun 10 2020 03:03 p.m.
Appellant,	)	CASE NO.: 79845 Elizabeth A. Brown
	)	Clerk of Supreme Court
	)	E-FILE
	)	D.C. Case: C-17-323324-1
v.	)	Dept.: XV
	)	
STATE OF NEVADA,	)	
	)	
Respondent.	)	
	)	

---

**APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

**This is an Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction After a Guilty Plea  
Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County**

TERRENCE M. JACKSON, ESQ.  
Nevada Bar No. 000854  
Law Office of Terrence M. Jackson  
624 South 9th Street  
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101  
(702) 386-0001  
Terry.jackson.esq@gmail.com

STEVEN B. WOLFSON  
Nevada Bar No. 001565

**This is an Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction After a Guilty Plea**

**Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County**

**NATURE OF THE ACTION**

This is an Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction after a Guilty Plea.

**SPECIFICATION OF ERROR**

1. The District Court erred when it found that Defendant was not entitled to withdraw his guilty plea;

A. Defendant was not sufficiently mentally competent to enter a knowing,

- voluntary and intelligent plea of guilty;
2. Material misstatements or defects in the written Plea Memorandum provided a justification for the Defendant to withdraw his plea;
  3. The Guilty Plea Agreement, which required Stipulation in advance to habitual criminal status for future violations, was unconstitutional under Nevada law and violated due process;
  4. The District Court erred when it sentenced the Defendant to an overly harsh and disproportionate sentence in violation of the Eighth Amendment;
  5. The accumulation of error requires reversal of the Defendant's conviction and sentence.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Defendant was arrested for Attempt Invasion of the Home and Malicious Destruction of Property on November 28, 2016. (A.A. 04) Defendant was arraigned in Justice Court on December 19, 2016, and a preliminary hearing was scheduled for February 15, 2017. Because Defendant's attorney had to withdraw due to a conflict, the preliminary hearing was continued to March 30, 2017. (A.A. 7-51)

In December of 2017 an arrest warrant for Defendant was issued in case

number 16FH2022X for Invasion of the Home and two counts of Burglary and Possession of Stolen Property. Defendant was booked on the warrant in the beginning of January, 2018.

Defendant was bound over on the Amended Criminal Complaint (A.A.1-2), charging invasion of the home, a felony, after a preliminary hearing on May 2, 2017. (A.A. 51) The State then filed an Information on May 9, 2017. (A.A. 3-4) A Notice of Intent to Seek Punishment as a Habitual Criminal under NRS 207.010(1) was also filed on May 9, 2017. (A.A. 5-6)

After the Defendant pled not guilty and waived his speedy trial right, the trial was initially set for September 11, 2017. On November 29, 2017, Defendant's counsel moved to withdraw due to a conflict and the case was continued for a status check until December 12, 2017. (A.A. 52-54) On December 12, the case was continued again to January 9, 2018, to see if new counsel would confirm. After several continuations new counsel was appointed.

On March 13, 2018, Defendant entered a guilty plea to the charge of Invasion of the Home, NRS 205.067. (A.A. 55-65, 83-92) On that date, March 13, 2018, Defendant signed a guilty plea agreement which stated *inter alia* :

The State will retain the right to argue. Additionally, the State agrees not to seek habitual criminal treatment. Further, the State will not oppose dismissal of Count 2 and Case no. 17F21598X after rendition of sentence. The State will not oppose standard bail after entry of plea. However, if I fail to go to the Division of Parole and Probation, fail to appear at any future court date or am arrested for any new offenses, I will stipulate to habitual criminal treatment, to the fact that I have the requisite priors and to a sentence of sixty (60) to one hundred fifty (150) months in the Nevada Department of Corrections. Additionally, I agree to pay full restitution including for cases and counts dismissed. *See, GPA at 1-2.* (A.A. 55) (Emphasis added)

...

The Guilty Plea Agreement, signed by the Defendant, had been filed in open court on March 9, 2018. (A.A. 55-64) Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, Defendant was then released on standard bail on March 13, 2018. (A.A. 89) A sentencing date was scheduled for July 17, 2018 and the Defendant was admonished by the court to appear for sentencing. (A.A. 65)

On April 26, 2019, Defendant filed a Motion to Place on Calendar to Address Custody Status and Hold.(A.A. 66-69) Defendant had been on parole in California at the time he committed the crimes in this case and 17F21598X; therefore, a hold had

been placed on him when he was arrested on the latter case. In that motion, Defendant asked to be remanded and for his sentencing date to be moved to a sooner date. The motion was heard on May 8, 2018, at which time the Court rescheduled Defendant's sentencing to June 5, 2018; however, Defendant was not remanded. (A.A. 70)

The case was continued at the request of the Defendant to June 5, 2018. (A.A. 71) On June 6, 2018, Defendant filed in *pro per* a Motion to Dismiss Counsel (A.A. 72-75) and a Motion to Withdraw Plea. (A.A. 76-81) On June 12, 2018, the court granted Defendant's Motion to Dismiss Counsel and then set another status check for confirmation of counsel for June 28, 2018. (A.A. 82) On June 28, 2018, all matters were continued to July 17, 2018. (A.A. 93) On July 3, 2018, the State filed an Opposition to Defendant's *pro per* Motion to Withdraw Plea. (A.A. 94-103)

On July 17, 2018, after Defendant had been arrested in California for the offense of Receiving Stolen Property, because Defendant failed to appear as scheduled, a bench warrant was issued in the instant case. Defendant's Motion to Withdraw his Plea was then taken off calendar. (A.A. 104)

On July 24, 2018, a Motion to Quash Bench Warrant was filed by Defendant's newly retained counsel which stated that Defendant was presently incarcerated in California, but would make all future court dates. The court denied Defendant's

Motion to Quash Without Prejudice on July 31, 2018, finding the bench warrant should remain in place to ensure Defendant's appearance in court pending resolution of his California case. (A.A. 105)

On November 8, 2018, Defendant appeared in custody on the bench warrant return and counsel requested thirty (30) days to determine the status of Defendant's California case. When the State objected, the court then set a sentencing date for November 27, 2018. (A.A. 106) On November 27, 2018, a newly retained counsel for the Defendant requested Defendant's case be continued until December 13, 2018. (A.A. 107) On December 13, 2018, defense counsel requested another continuance because he had filed a Motion for Expert Services (Investigator) pursuant to *Widdis*. (A.A. 127)

The Motion for Expert Services was then granted by the Court on January 9, 2019. (A.A. 129) On January 17, 2019, the court confirmed the investigator would only be working on information related to a motion to withdraw guilty plea and the sentencing date was rescheduled by the court for February 19, 2019. (A.A. 130)

...

On February 15, 2019, Defendant filed a Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea with

Exhibits. (A.A. 131-199) On February 19, 2019, the sentencing date was continued to March 26, 2019, to allow the State time to file an opposition to Defendant's motion. That date was later changed by the parties and the Court to April 4, 2019.(A.A. 200) On February 21, 2019, the State filed a Notice of Intent to Seek Punishment as a Habitual Criminal. (A.A. 201-203) On February 21, 2019, Defendant filed a Supplemental Exhibit in Support of Defendant's Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea. (A.A. 204-209) Defendant's Motion to Withdraw and sentencing date was then reset. (A.A.210) The State then filed an Opposition to Defendant's Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea with Exhibits on March 19, 2019. (A.A. 211-276) Defendant filed a Reply to State's Opposition to Defendant's Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea with Exhibits on March 28, 2019. (A.A. 277-292)

Evidentiary hearings on Defendant's Motion to Withdraw his plea were held on May 28, 2019 and July 11, 2019. (A.A. 295), (A.A. 302-338) The State filed Motion to Remand on June 11, 2019. (A.A. 296-301) The Court issued an Order, denying Defendant's Motion to Withdraw Plea on August 6, 2019. (A.A. 339-351) On August 7, 2019, the Court issued Notice of Entry of Order. (A.A. 352)

Defendant then filed a Sentencing Memorandum on September 23, 2019. (A.A. 353-370) The Probation and Parole filed a Supplemental PSI September 23, 2019, the

State then filed a Response to Defendant's Sentencing Memorandum on October 1, 2019. (A.A. 371-378)

Defendant was then sentenced on October 3, 2019 to sixty (60) to one hundred fifty (150) months. (A.A. 379, 384-85)

On October 4, 2019, defense counsel filed a Motion to Withdraw. (A.A. 380-82) The Judgment of Conviction was filed October 9, 2019. (A.A. 384) On October 15, 2019, Defendant filed Notice of Appeal. (A.A. 385-86) On October 22, 2019, the Court granted Defendant's Motion to Withdraw Counsel. (A.A. 387)

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The Defendant pled guilty to a Class B felony, invasion of the home, NRS 205.067, on March 13, 2018. The State agreed to dismiss the other pending count and the State agreed NOT to seek habitual criminal treatment unless the Defendant failed to appear at future court appearances or unless he was even merely arrested for any new offense. (A.A. 083-092)

The plea agreement required the Defendant to remain totally arrest free and not miss a single court date, or the Defendant would be required to stipulate to habitual criminal treatment. (A.A. 55) It is respectfully submitted that it was obvious, or it



should have been obvious to defense counsel, that the Defendant's pending California case might have likely impacted his future appearances. The District Attorney also knew of this fact and the court should have been aware of this as well.

The Defendant was nonetheless released at the time of entry of plea. Defendant was almost immediately then taken into custody again and then compelled by the plea to stipulate to being a habitual criminal after a California arrest resulted in his custody being revoked. (A.A. 353-370) This certainly could not have been unexpected.

Defendant however most certainly did not fully understand the totality of the negotiations when he pled guilty. He immediately filed a Motion to Withdraw his plea of guilty on February 15, 2019. (A.A. 131-199) Defendant alleged in his *pro per* motion that he did not fully understand the consequences of the guilty plea. (A.A. 78) He alleged his counsel was ineffective for misleading him. (A.A. 077-78) He also alleged his counsel's lack of pre-plea investigation. (A.A. 77) He made no reference to his own prior difficulties with the criminal justice system including previous revocations of probation and parole or substance abuse problems. (*See*, PSI, p. 3-5) Counsel should have been aware of these issues but there was a real concern about his capacity to fully understand the guilty plea memorandum and the complex negotiation it entailed.

The written Plea Memorandum also incorrectly stated the actual sentence the Defendant would be facing was sixty (60) to one hundred twenty (120) months if he was treated as an habitual criminal. (A.A. 55) Since the written plea memorandum incorrectly stated he would be facing sixty (60) to only one hundred twenty (120) months, when he was actually facing sixty (60) to one hundred fifty (150) months, (*See, pg. 1 of the Guilty Plea Agreement*), (A.A.55), the document misled the Defendant as to the possible maximum punishment he was facing. (A.A.55)

Counsel should have been aware of Defendant's significant substance abuse issues and his prior revocations of probation and parole prior to his plea of guilty. (*See, PSI, p. 3-5*) These difficulties were not adequately addressed by the court, or his counsel, before the plea. His counsel was ineffective in effectively advising Defendant of the most important consequences of his plea including the agreed stipulated sentence and therefore it is respectfully submitted that his Motion to Withdraw his plea should have been granted. *See, 10 ALR 4th 8, Defense Counsel's Representation Affecting Guilty Plea.*

Despite the Defendant's assertions in his Writ that his plea was not a knowing and intelligent plea, and the actual misstatements in the written Guilty Plea Agreement, the District Court nevertheless entered on Order denying Defendant's

Motion to Withdraw his guilty plea on August 6, 2019. (A.A. 339-351) Notice of Entry of Order was filed August 7, 2019. (A.A. 352) Defendant filed a Sentencing Memorandum September 23, 2019. (A.A. 353-370) The State filed a Response to Defendant's Sentencing Memorandum on October 1, 2019. (A.A. 371-378)

The court then sentenced Defendant on October 3, 2019 to a term of sixty (60) to one hundred fifty (150) months. (A.A. 379) When adjudicating him an habitual criminal, the court did not find any prosecutorial overreaching by the State in the drafting or the implementing of the plea memo which required a stipulation to habitual criminal status. (A.A. 379)

Defendant submits that the written Guilty Plea Agreement, which was prepared by the prosecution, was a contract of adhesion which wrongly compelled Defendant to stipulate to habitual criminal treatment. (A.A. 55) This unnecessary stipulation to give up the due process right to even contest potential habitual criminal treatment was unjust. Defendant submits the terms of the plea agreement constituted a gross overreaching by the prosecution, resulting in a violation of due process that should not have been enforced.

The Nevada Supreme Court has previously ruled that a Defendant may not

stipulate to his status as an habitual criminal or the constitutionality of his prior convictions. *McAnulty v. State*, 108 Nev. 179, 826 P.2d 567 (1992); *see also, Staley v. State*, 106 Nev. 75, 78 (1990). Furthermore it is always within the discretion of the district court to not sentence a defendant as an habitual criminal. *French v. State*, 98 Nev. 235, 645 P.2d 440 (1982). It is respectfully submitted the district court abused its discretion in this case.

The sentence given Mr. Dorsey under the habitual criminal statute was excessively harsh and excessive and therefore violated the Eighth Amendment's cruel and unusual punishment clause. *Weems v. United States*, 217 U.S. 349 (1910). *Weems* requires that a court should make a threshold determination as to whether or not the sentence imposed was 'grossly disproportionate' to the offense committed. It is respectfully submitted under all the facts and circumstances in this case, the court erred in sentencing the Defendant to the overly harsh and excessive sentence he received.

### **JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

Appellant claims jurisdiction pursuant to NRS 177.015(3). This is an appeal of the Judgment after Sentencing following a guilty plea in the Eighth Judicial

District Court. Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal on October 15, 2019, within the 30 day time limit established by Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure 4(b).

### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This is a direct appeal from a judgment of conviction that challenges the validity of the guilty plea and the sentence imposed. Therefore, according to NRAP 17(b), this case should be assigned to the Nevada Court of Appeals.

### **FACTUAL STATEMENT**

Defendant, Denzel Dorsey, pled guilty on March 13, 2018, to a charge of invasion of the home NRS 205.067. The plea negotiation required that he agree to stipulate to habitual criminal treatment under NRS 207.010(1) at sentencing and stipulate to a sentence of sixty (60) to one hundred twenty (120) months if he was arrested or he failed to make any court appearances while awaiting sentencing.

A few days before his original sentencing date he was arrested on July 11, 2018, in California for the charge of receiving stolen property. He therefore missed a required court appearance on July 17, 2018. He moved to withdraw his guilty plea soon after that arrest alleging he did not fully understand his rights (A.A. 76-81) Defense counsel then filed a Motion requesting an evidentiary hearing. (A.A. 131,

199) The defense then filed Supplementary Exhibits in support of the Motion. (A.A. 204-210)

The evidentiary hearing for the Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus was heard on May 28, 2019. At that hearing the Defendant presented two witnesses, who testified as alibi witnesses of Dorsey. (A.A. 345) The Court in its Order denied Defendant's Petition on August 6, 2019, finding both of the Defendant's witnesses lacking in credibility. (A.A. 336-351)

When Defendant was sentenced on October 3, 2019, he was forced to stipulate to habitual criminal status. (A.A. 358, 379) He then received a sentence of sixty (60) to one hundred fifty (150) months. (A.A. 384-385) That sentence was greater than the sentence the plea agreement called for of sixty (60) to one hundred twenty (120) months. (A.A. 55) He was not however allowed to argue against that sentence or to withdraw his plea. (A.A.351, 379) He appeals the denial of his Motion to Withdraw Plea and the validity of the compelled, stipulated sentence. (A.A. 385)

...

...

### **LEGAL ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

- I.** WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY DENYING THE DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO WITHDRAW HIS PLEA OF GUILTY;

**A.** WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED WHEN DENYING THE DEFENDANT HIS MOTION TO WITHDRAW HIS GUILTY PLEA. IT DID NOT CONSIDER THE TOTALITY OF CIRCUMSTANCES AFFECTING THE VOLUNTARINESS OR INTELLIGENCE OF HIS PLEA RIGHTS;
- II.** WHETHER MATERIAL MISSTATEMENTS IN THE GUILTY PLEA MEMO CONCERNING PUNISHMENT PROVIDED JUSTIFICATION FOR THE DEFENDANT TO WITHDRAW HIS GUILTY PLEA OR TO MODIFY HIS SENTENCE;
- III.** WHETHER THE AGREEMENT TO STIPULATE IN ADVANCE TO HABITUAL CRIMINAL TREATMENT, AS REQUIRED BY THE PLEA MEMORANDUM, WAS UNCONSTITUTIONAL IN VIOLATION OF DUE PROCESS AND NEVADA LAW;
- IV.** WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN SENTENCING DEFENDANT TO A SENTENCE OF 60 TO 150 MONTHS UNDER THE HABITUAL CRIMINAL ACT;

**V. WHETHER THE ACCUMULATION OF ERRORS REQUIRES REVERSAL OF DEFENDANT'S CONVICTION.**

**ARGUMENT**

**I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY NOT FINDING COUNSEL HAD FAILED TO ADEQUATELY INVESTIGATE DORSEY'S COMPETENCY TO PLEAD GUILTY.**

Defendant submits when the District Court entered its Order on August 6, 2019, denying Defendant's Motion to Withdraw his plea, it completely ignored the importance of defense pre-plea investigation and therefore erred.

The American Bar Association (ABA) Standards on the prosecutor and defense function emphasize the crucial importance of investigation by criminal defense attorneys for their clients. The ABA Standard 4.1 states *inter alia*:

**4.1 Duty to Investigate.**

It is the duty of the lawyer to conduct a prompt investigation of the circumstances of the case and explore all avenues leading to facts relevant to guilt and degree of guilt or penalty. The investigation should always include effort to secure information in the possession of the prosecution and law enforcement authorities. The duty to



investigate exists regardless of the accused's admissions or statements to the lawyer of facts constituting guilt or his stated desire to plead guilty. (Emphasis added)

The two-part test applicable for a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is that set forth in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984):

“First, the defendant must show counsel’s *performance was deficient*. Second, the defendant must show that the deficient performance *prejudiced* the defense. ...”

Concerning the first requirement, the Supreme Court has explained that the accused “must show that counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness.” *Id.* at 688. The Court has also explained that, in meeting the second requirement, the accused can establish prejudice by showing that the attorney’s deficient performance “actually had an adverse effect on the defense,” that is, that the attorney’s performance was sufficiently poor that it “undermines confidence in the outcome.” *Id.* at 693-94. (Emphasis added)

In this case counsel failed by not adequately investigating his client’s competency before his plea.

The United States Supreme Court in *Strickland* noted that:

...[j]udicial scrutiny of counsel performance must be highly deferential however, counsel must at a minimum conduct a reasonable investigation enabling him to make informed decisions about how best to represent his client. *Strickland*, *Id.* 691, 104 S.Ct. at 2066. (Emphasis added).

Reversing a conviction for ineffective assistance of counsel, the Nevada Supreme Court in *Sanborn v. State*, 107 Nev. 399, 812 P.2d 1279 (1991) stated:

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