#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

\_\_\_\_

Electronically Filed Jul 09 2020 08:14 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

DENZEL DORSEY,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 79845

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

TERRENCE M. JACKSON, ESQ. Nevada Bar #000854 Law Office of Terrence M. Jackson 624 South 9th Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 386-0001

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellant argues that the district court incorrectly denied his Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea. However, the arguments Appellant now brings are not the arguments he presented to the district court as grounds to withdraw his guilty plea. As such, this Court should not entertain them here. Further, the arguments Appellant now brings are without merit. Any argument by Appellant that he was not competent to enter into his guilty plea agreement is belied by the record. Further, the fact that the guilty plea agreement incorrectly stated the stipulated sentence for a habitual criminal adjudication did not make the guilty plea invalid.

Appellant also argues that it is unconstitutional to allow a defendant to stipulate to habitual criminal adjudication in a guilty plea agreement. However, this Court has explicitly held otherwise in Hodges v. State, 119 Nev. 479, 484, 78 P.3d 67, 70 (2003). Appellant further argues that his sentence was cruel and unusual. However, the sentencing court sentenced Appellant to the lightest possible sentence under the small habitual statute. Finally, Appellant argues that cumulative error warrants reversal. However, there was no individual error in this case, and therefore, no error to cumulate.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# I. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN NOT ALLOWING APPELLANT TO WITHDRAW HIS GUILTY PLEA

Appellant first argues that the district court erred by not allowing him to withdraw his guilty plea.

On appeal from the District Court's determination, a reviewing court will presume that the lower court correctly assessed the validity of the plea and will not reverse the District Court's determination absent a clear showing of an abuse of discretion. Mitchell v. State, 109 Nev. 137, 138, 848 P.2d 1060, 1060 (1993). "An abuse of discretion occurs if the District Court's decision is arbitrary or capricious or if it exceeds the bounds of law or reason." Jackson v. State, 117 Nev. 116, 120, 17 P.3d 998, 1000 (2001). Deference must be given to factual findings made by the District Court in the course of a motion to withdraw a guilty plea. Little v. Warden, 117 Nev. 845, 854, 34 Pd. 3d 540, 546 (2001).

Pursuant to NRS 176.165, a defendant who has pleaded guilty, but has not been sentenced, may petition the District Court to withdraw his plea. "A District Court may, in its discretion, grant a defendant's [presentence] motion to withdraw a guilty plea for any substantial reason if it is fair and just. However, the District Court must also look to the totality of the circumstances and the entire record." Woods v.

<u>State</u>, 114 Nev. 468, 469, 958 P.2d 91, 91 (1998); <u>See State v. Second Judicial Dist.</u>

<u>Court (Bernardelli)</u>, 85 Nev. 381, 385, 455 P.2d 923, 926 (1969).

A plea of guilty is presumptively valid, particularly where it is entered on the advice of counsel. Jezierski v. State, 107 Nev. 395, 397, 812 P.2d 355, 356 (1991). The defendant has the burden of proving that the plea was not entered knowingly or voluntarily. Bryant v. State, 102 Nev. 268, 272, 721 P.2d 364, 368 (1986); Wynn v. State, 96 Nev. 673, 615 P.2d 946 (1980); Housewright v. Powell, 101 Nev. 147, 710 P.2d 73 (1985). In determining whether a guilty plea is knowingly and voluntarily entered, the court will review the totality of the circumstances surrounding the defendant's plea. Bryant, 102 Nev. at 271, 721 P.2d at 367. The proper standard set forth in Bryant requires the trial court to personally address a defendant at the time he enters his plea in order to determine whether he understands the nature of the charges to which he is pleading. Id. at 271; State v. Freese, 116 Nev. 1097, 1105, 13 P.3d 442, 448 (2000). The guidelines for voluntariness of guilty pleas "do not require the articulation of talismanic phrases." Heffley v. Warden, 89 Nev. 573, 575, 516 P.2d 1403, 1404 (1973). It requires only "that the record affirmatively disclose that a defendant who pleaded guilty entered his plea understandingly and voluntarily." Brady v. United States, 397 U.S. 742, 747-748, 90 S.Ct. 1463, 1470 (1970); United States v. Sherman, 474 F.2d 303 (9th Cir. 1973).

Specifically, the record must affirmatively show the following: 1) the defendant knowingly waived his privilege against self-incrimination, the right to trial by jury, and the right to confront his accusers; 2) the plea was voluntary, was not coerced, and was not the result of a promise of leniency; 3) the defendant understood the consequences of his plea and the range of punishment; and 4) the defendant understood the nature of the charge, i.e., the elements of the crime. Higby v. Sheriff, 86 Nev. 774, 781, 476 P.2d 950, 963 (1970).

Stevenson v. State, 131 Nev. 598, 354 P.3d 1277 (2015), held that the statement in Crawford v. State, 117 Nev. 718, 30 P.3d 1123 (2001), which focuses the "fair and just" analysis solely upon whether the plea was knowing, voluntary, and intelligent is more narrow than contemplated by NRS 176.165. The Nevada Supreme Court therefore disavowed Crawford's exclusive focus on the validity of the plea and affirmed that the District Court must consider the totality of the circumstances to determine whether permitting withdrawal of a guilty plea before sentencing would be fair and just. Id. at 603, 354 P.3d at 1281 (2015). However, the Court also held that Stevenson had failed to present a fair and just reason favoring withdrawal of his plea and therefore affirmed his judgment of conviction. Stevenson, 131 Nev. at 604-5, 354 P.3d at 1281. The Court made clear that one of the goals of the fair and just analysis is to allow a hastily entered plea made with unsure heart and confused mind to be undone, not to allow a defendant to make a tactical decision

to enter a plea, wait several weeks, and then obtain a withdrawal if he believes that he made a bad choice in pleading guilty. <u>Id.</u> at 605, 354 P.3d at 1281-1282. The Court found that considering the totality of the circumstances, they had no difficulty in concluding that Stevenson failed to present a sufficient reason to permit withdrawal of his plea, finding that permitting Stevenson to withdraw his plea under the circumstances would allow the solemn entry of a guilty plea to become a mere gesture, a temporary and meaningless formality reversible at the defendant's whim, which the Court cannot allow. <u>Id.</u> at 605, 354 P.3d at 1282. In applying the totality of circumstances test, the most significant factors for review include the plea canvass and the written guilty plea agreement. <u>See Hudson v. Warden</u>, 117 Nev. 387, 399, 22 P.3d 1154, 1162 (2001).

When a defendant has made a tactical decision to enter into a guilty plea, a change of mind or a determination that choosing to enter the plea was a bad choice is not sufficient to allow withdrawal of the plea. <u>Id.</u> The purpose of focusing on what is fair and just is "to allow a hastily entered plea made with unsure heart and confused mind to be undone, not to allow a defendant to make a tactical decision to enter a plea, wait several weeks, and then obtain a withdrawal if he believes that he made a bad choice in pleading guilty." <u>United States v. Alexander</u>, 948 F.2d 1002, 1004 (6th Cir. 1991) (internal quotation marks omitted). The passage of weeks or months before moving to withdraw a plea militates against a finding that the plea

was entered hastily, rather than as a result of a calculated tactical decision. Stevenson, 131 Nev. at 605, 354 P.3d at 1281–82 (citing <u>United States v. Barker</u>, 514 F.2d 208, 222 (D.C. Cir. 1975) ("A swift change of heart is itself strong indication that the plea was entered in haste and confusion...")).

A defendant may not use the agreement as a placeholder until he determines a more favorable course of action. Ensminger, 567 F.3d at 593. Even a good-faith change of heart is not a fair and just reason. Id. ("Our prior decisions make clear that a change of heart—even a good faith change of heart—is not a fair and just reason that entitles Ensminger to withdraw his plea, even where the government incurs no prejudice."). Similarly, the Court must not "allow the solemn entry of a guilty plea to 'become a mere gesture, a temporary and meaningless formality reversible at the defendant's whim." Stevenson, 131 Nev. at 605, 354 P.3d at 1282 (quoting Barker, 514 F.2d at 221).

As an initial point, the only arguments Appellant made to the district court regarding why he should be entitled to withdraw his guilty plea was that he was actually innocent of the crime charged, and that his counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate the underlying facts of the case. 1 AA0076-80; 1 AA0131-37. While Appellant briefly argues that his counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate (see AOB at 19), he dedicates only three pages of his Opening Brief to this point. The remainder of Appellant's Opening Brief raises a series of new

arguments. Given that these arguments were never presented to the district court as grounds to allow Appellant to withdraw his guilty pleas, the district court never addressed the merits of these arguments. As such, this Court should decline to consider these arguments. See Guy v. State, 108 Nev. 770, 780, 839 P.2d 578, 584 (1992) (stating: "[b]ecause appellant failed to present these hearsay exceptions at trial, the trial court had no opportunity to consider their merit. Consequently, we will not consider them for the first time on appeal"); see also McNelton v. State, 115 Nev. 396, 416, 990 P.2d 1263, 1276 (1999) (declining to address arguments not raised before the district court).

The State would further note that it is not even clear what Appellant is appealing, or what relief he is seeking. For example, in Section II of his AOB, Appellant states that material misstatements in the guilty plea memo provides justification for Appellant to withdraw his plea of guilty or modify his sentence. But Appellant never filed any Motion seeking to Modify his sentence in district court. This Court does not have the ability to modify Appellant's sentence. See Sims v. State, 107 Nev. 438, 440, 814 P.2d 63, 64 (1991) (stating: "...we do not view the proper role of this court to be that of an appellate sentencing body.") Such vagueness in the relief requested is in violation of NRAP 28(a)(11).

However, even if this Court decides to entertain this claim, the claim is without merit. First, Appellant seems to allege that he was entitled to withdraw his

guilty plea because his counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate the facts of his case. However, Appellant does not allege what a more thorough investigation would have revealed, or how he was prejudiced. Pursuant to Molina v. State, 120 Nev. 185, 192, 87 P.3d 533, 538 (2004), such a claim cannot support post-conviction relief.

Appellant also seems to raise a new ineffective assistance of counsel claim arguing that his counsel was ineffective for not investigating his competency before Appellant entered his plea. <u>AOB</u> at 16-17. However, any ineffective assistance of counsel claim is not suitable for review here. An ineffective assistance of counsel claim must first be raised in a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, not on appeal. <u>See Franklin v. State</u>, 110 Nev. 750, 752, 877 P.2d 1058, 1059 (1994) overruled in part on other grounds by <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 115 Nev. 148, 979 P.2d 222 (1999).

To the extent Appellant is arguing that he was entitled to withdraw his guilty plea because he was incompetent to sign this plea, such an argument is belied by the record. Appellant's argument seems to be based on the fact that Appellant is alleging he has a substance abuse problem. <u>AOB</u> at 19-20. However, in signing his guilty plea agreement, Appellant affirmed the following statements:

I have discussed the elements of all of the original charge(s) against me with my attorney and I understand the nature of the charge(s) against me.

I understand that the State would have to prove each element of the charge(s) against me at trial.

I have discussed with my attorney any possible defenses, defense strategies and circumstances which might be in my favor.

All of the foregoing elements, consequences, rights, and waiver of rights have been thoroughly explained to me by my attorney.

I believe that pleading guilty and accepting this plea bargain is in my best interest, and that a trial would be contrary to my best interest.

I am signing this agreement voluntarily, after consultation with my attorney, and I am not acting under duress or coercion or by virtue of any promises of leniency, except for those set forth in this agreement.

I am not now under the influence of any intoxicating liquor, a controlled substance or other drug which would impair my ability to comprehend or understand this agreement or the proceedings surrounding my entry of this plea.

My attorney has answered all my questions regarding this guilty plea agreement and its consequences to my satisfaction and I am satisfied with the services provided by my attorney.

1 AA0059. Further, Appellant's counsel at the time of his entry into this guilty plea negotiation signed the GPA and thereby affirmed the following statement:

- (5) To the best of my knowledge and belief, the Defendant:
- (a) Is competent and understands the charges and the consequences of pleading guilty as provided in this agreement.
- (b) Executed this agreement and will enter all guilty pleas pursuant hereto voluntarily, and
- (c) Was not under the influence of intoxicating liquor, a controlled substance or other drug at the time I consulted with the Defendant as certified in paragraphs 1 and 2 above.

#### 1 AA0060.

Further, during Appellant's plea canvas, the following exchange between Appellant and the district court occurred:

THE COURT: All right. How old are you?

THE DEFENDANT: 24.

THE COURT: All right. How far did you go in school?

THE DEFENDANT: I graduated high school.

THE COURT: What high school?

THE DEFENDANT: In the Department of Corrections.

THE COURT: I'm sorry?

THE DEFENDANT: In the Department of Corrections.

THE COURT: Did you get a GED or did you actually go to high school there?

THE DEFENDANT: No, I just completed it High Desert.

THE COURT: At High Desert. Okay. Well, you speak very well. Do you read, write, and understand the English language?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

. . .

THE COURT: All right. You understand that as a consequence of your guilty plea the Court must sentence you to imprisonment in the Nevada Department of Corrections for

a minimum term of not less than one year and a maximum term of not more than ten years?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: DO you also understand that you could be fined up to \$10,000?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you also understand that sentencing is strictly up to the Court, that no one can promise you probation, leniency, or other special treatment?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you also understand that no one could promise you a particular sentence even though this guilty plea agreement says agreement and stipulations and all that stuff that I as the Judge do not necessarily have to follow this deal>

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you also understand that you are giving up certain constitutional rights which are listed in the guilty plea agreement?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: I take it that you did discuss your case and your rights with your lawyer?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you have any questions regarding your rights or the negotiations?

THE DEFENDANT: No, Your Honor.

. . .

THE COURT: If you fail to go to Division of Parole and Probation, if you fail to appear at any future court date or are arrested on any new offenses, that you have stipulated that you would serve habitual criminal treatment, meaning that you are stipulating to a sentence of a minimum of 60 months to a maximum of 120 months to be served in the Nevada Department of Corrections. Do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: That's quite a hammer. So, (1) you gotta stay out of trouble and you gotta cooperate with the division, you understand?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

#### 1 AA0086-89.

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